
25 November 1949 255 44th meeting 

by the Trusteeship CounciJl as a result of that 
resolution. That statute offered a practical and 
satisfactory solution for the administration of 
Jerusalem and the neighbouring area. It appeared 
much better than the draft instrument proposed 
by the Conciliation Commission because, apart 
from the fact that it was not enough to protect 
the Holy Places, it was doubtful whether even 
that basic protection could be assured under the 
Conciliation Commission's proposals. Those 
propositions were, in fact, designed primarily to 
ensure the co-ordination, a probably precarious 
co-ordination, of certain services with the sole 
aim of protecting the Holy Places, while the 
importance attached to Jerusalem, a Holy City 
of three religions, indicated clearly enough the 
necessity of placing the City under international 
control. No national consideration, however 
natural, should stand in the way of the estab
lishment of that indispensable control. 
117. The Australian draft resolution did not, 
however at the present stage, seek to impose the 
statute prepared by the Trusteeship Council, for 
two reasons : first, s9me events had taken place 
since its formulation which would doubtless 
necessitate changes in the original plan; and, 
secondly, it might be undesirable to define the 
future administration of Jerusalem in detail be
cause the frontiers between Israel and the Arab 
States had ·as yet been neither delimited nor 
approved by the United Nations. The two prob
lems were connected to some extent, for it seemed 
certain that the international regime in Jerusalem 
could not succeed without precise and stable 
frontiers. 
118. The Australian delegation therefore pro
posed only to prolong the work of the Concilia
tion Commission and to authorize it to set up 
all the provisional administration it deemed 
necessary for Jerusalem until the frontiers were 
delimited and until it had submitted to the 
General Assembly a plan for the internationaliza
tion of the City on the basis of the principles 
laid down in 1947. 
119. The Australian draft resolution also pro
posed to increase the number of members of the 
Conciliation Commission from three to seven. 
It seemed to the Australian delegation that the 
present Commission . was not suffic_iently 1:epr~
scntative and that 1t would certainly gam m 
authority in relation to the interested States if 
it were slightly enlarged. Furtherm?re, the_ Com: 
mission had sometimes given the 1mpress10n 01 

Governments engaged in diplomatic negotiations 
rather than that of an organ of conciliation 
designated by the United Nations. Finally, there 
was nothing t6 justify the belief that the Commis
sion had succeeded in the task entrusted to it 
under the terms of paragraph 8 of resolution 194 
(III) of the General Assembly, which had in
structed it "to prese11t to the General Assembly 
at its fourth regular session detailed proposals 
in regard to a permanent international regime for 
the Jerusalem area". It could not be said that the 
draft instrument would establish an international 
regime in Jerusalem. 

120. On the other hand, the various proposals 
submitted by the delegation of Israel, such as 
the draft agreement between the United Nations 
and Israel, could not be supported by the mem
bers of the Committee. All those proposals had 
been based on the fact that, in practice, Israel 
controlled a part of the City of Jerusalem. Some 
of them spoke of an "integration of the Jewish 
zone within the State of Israel" and were in
compatible with the decisions previously taken 
by the United Nations. 

121. TI1e Australian delegation realized that its 
proposal could hardly be welcomed by the delega
tion of Israel. However, considering the role it 
had played at the time of the partition of 
Palestine and the admission of Israel into the 
United Nations as a Member State, the Australian 
delegation had the right to say that its present 
attitude was based only on its desire to arrive 
at a just and satisfactory solution of the problem. 
It hoped that its draft resolution would be sup
ported by the members of the Committee, and it 
appealed to the Israel delegation to accede to the 
opinion of a great number of Members and the 
wishes of the greater part of world opinion. 

122. The CHAIRMAN proposed that the Com
mittee should invite the President of the Inter
national Committee of the Red Cross, who was 
in New York for two days, to speak on the 
question of the Arab refugees in Palestine at the 
next day's meeting. 

It was so decided. 

123. Mr. AL-JAMALI (Iraq) proposed that the 
meeting should be adjourned. 
124. The CHAIRMAN put the proposal of the 
representative of Iraq to the vote. 

The proposal was adopted by 27 votes to 4. 
The meeting rose at 1.10 p.m. 

FORTY-FOURTH MEETING 
Held at Lake Success, New York, on Friday, 25 November 1949, at 11 a.m. 

Chairman: Mr. Nasrotlah ENTEZAM (Iran). 

Palestine ( continued) 

PROPOSALS FOR A PERMANENT INTERNATIONAL 
REGHIE FOR THE JERUSALEM AREA AND FOR 
PROTECTION OF TIIE HoLY PLACES: REPORT OF 
TIIE UNITED NATIONS CoNCILIATION CoMMIS
SION FOR PALESTINE (A/973 AND A/973/ 
Ann .1) (contin.1red) 

1. The CHAIRMAN recalled that at the preceding 
meeting the members of the Committee had 

'See Official Records of thr Trusteeship Cot~ncil, J'hird 
p."lrt of the Second Scssicm, annex, document 1 /118/ 
Rcv.2, 

agreed to hear Mr. Ruegger, President of the 
International Committee of the Red Cross. That 
procedure would be merely interpolated. in the 
Committee's discussions, for the question of 
assistance to Palestine refugees was not at that 
stage going to be studied. The reason why Mr. 
Ruegger should be heard on that clay was that 
he was in New York for only a few days. 
2. \Vhen the Committee came to consider the 
problem of assistance to the refugees, it would 
have the opportunity of hearing the representa
tives of the other international organizations, the 
American Frirnds Service Committee and the-



44th meeting 256 25 November 1949 

League ·· of Red Cross Societies, which had 
collaborated in the work of the International 
Red Cross. 

On the Chairman's invitation, Mr. Ruegger, 
President of the International Committee of the 
Red Cross, took his seat at the Committee table. 

3. Mr. RUEGGER (President of the International 
Committee of the Red Cross) expressed his 
gratitude to the Secretary-General, who had asked 
the International Committee of the Red Cross, 
as well as the other international agencies co
operating with it, to be represented during the 
Committee's discussion of the question of assist
ance to refugees. Since the decisions to be taken 
by the Committee and the General Assembly 
would be most important, he had felt bound to 
come in person in response to the Secretary
General's invitation. He also thanked the Chair
man of the Committee, who had asked the mem
bers of the Committee to pause in their discussion 
to enable him to communicate to them the 
thoughts, hopes and concerns of the International 
Committee of the Red Cross on the serious prob
lem of the Palestine refugees. 

4. The first interim report (A/1106) of the 
Economic-Survey Mission for the Middle East, 
which was presided over by Mr. Clapp, opened 
up reassuring and encouraging prospects, because 
its proposals were likely to make it possible, in 
the very near future, to settle in permanent 
homes and in an active and useful life some 
hundreds of thousands of refugees, who would 
thus be freed from an idleness which had been 
forced on them and which in the long run, antl 
in spite of all the efforts made to help them, 
was bound to reduce them to a state of profound 
demoralization, with all its serious consequences. 

5. Those prospects were also reassuring to the 
International Red Cross, which, together with the 
American Friends Service Committee and the 
League of Red Cross Societies, had accepted the 
United Nations appeal of November 1948 to dis
tribute relief in the field.1 The Red Cross had 
worked in close co-operation and great confidence 
with the League of Red Cross Societies and the 
American Friends Service Committee. The Red 
Cross, realizing that the difficult task was one for 
a strictly neutral and humanitarian agency, had 
shown itself ready to act to the fullest extent pos
sible. Still, it had always hoped, in conformity 
with its policy and general approach, that its 
intervention would be limited to the relief re
quired by the circumstances. Owing to its neutral 
character, the International Red Cross was under 
a duty to intervene whenever the help of an im
partial intermediary might be useful in a t~oubled 
situation. But, owing to that same neutrality, the 
Red Cross was duty-bound to transfer the tasks 
entrusted to it to other authorities as soon as the 
situation became settled, and as soon as the prob
lem to be solved was one of reconstruction and 
resettlement. In that connexion, Mr. Ruegger re
ferred to his telegram of 6 May 1949 to the 
Secrctary-GcneraF in which he had stressed that 
particular point and in which he had said that t~e 
programme for the settlement of rcfu~ces 111 

permanent homrs should be examined without de
lay by the Assembly, because relief, even if pro-

' See Official Rccords of fl,c thi,·d scssio11 <>f tlir 
General Assembly, !'art I, Resolutions, No. 212 (III), 
paragraph 8. 

longed was essentially provisional and intended 
to enable the authorities concerned to take the 

· necessary steps to achieve the only pe:manent 
solution which was resettlement. That view had 
been sh~red by the League of Red Cross Societies, 
and had also been expressed by the Standing 
Commission of the International Red Cross. 

6. The International Committee of the Red 
Cross could not but welcome with profound satis
faction the completion of the studies carried out 
by the United Nations and the presentation of 
concrete and constructive proposals. Although it 
was not for the International Red Cross to ex
press an opinion on the various proposals for 
resettlement, it nevertheless 5incerely hoped that 
the General Assembly would not adjourn without 
having taken formal and constructive decisions in 
that field. The responsibility voluntarily assumed 
by the Red Cross, which worked in the field and 
under the scrutiny of those to whom it was dis
tributing relief, should not be extended unduly. 
In particular, it should not be extended to a point 
where its contribution would be regarded as dis
criminatory in some quarters, to the detriment of 
its reputation for uncontested impartiality. Such 
a situation might have the most serious conse
quences in the Middle East for the United Na
tions itself under whose auspices, in the darkest 
hours, fruitful and effective action had been taken. 

7. There was, however, one part of the report of 
the Economic Survey Mission for the Middle 
East on which the International Committee of 
the Red Cross had the right, and even the duty, 
to express an opinion forthwith; he was referring 
to that part which stated that the organizations at 
present providing relief in the field should con
tinue to do so during the first quarter of 1950. In 
fact, the report proposed a limitation of funds, 
which would reduce bv one-third the volume of 
relief distributed, or, ·expressed in other terms, 
would deprive one person in three of the rations 
so far allocated to him; and that at a time when 
the situation had worsened. Mr. Ruegger pointed 
out that in several vast areas where the Inter
national Red Cross was operating, the sudden and 
considerable reduction of the number of persons 
helped might be the signal for fresh disturbances. 
\Vhereas one of the essential purposes of the 
~encrous work undertaken by the Organization 
was the maintenance of peace, such action might, 
just before the plan for resettlement was to be 
gradually put into practice, lead to a revival of 
disorders which ought to be avoided. 

8. According to the provisional findings in the 
first interim report about 6S p('r cent of the 
refug-ers had fled to Arab Palestine (which was 
part· of the territory cared for by the Int_rr
national Red Cross) and to Gaza, almost doubling 
the population of those areas. Moreover, in most 
of the territory cared for by the International Red 
Cross there was, as yet, no constituted authority 
or continuity of governmental action, because of 
the recent fighting in that area. The situation was 
fraught with danger and would be further ag~ra
vatrd if one-third of the rations were to be with
drawn in the middle of winter. In the last para
crraph of the chapter entitled "Guiding policies for 
~1c administration of the proposed programmt:'" 
the rl'port stated that "None of these org;rniza-

'Sec doc11111cnt S/1060, annex I (11). 



25 November 1949 257 44th meeting 

tions"-namely, the International Committee of 
the Red Cross, the League of Red Cross Societies 
and the American Friends Service Committee
"is qualified to administer a works relief pro
gramme or to negotiate thereon with Near East
ern Governments". He did not contest the veracity 
of that statement, which coincided, moreover, 
with what he had said before about the hope ex-

, pressed by the International Committee of the 
Red Cross. Still, the Red Cross had been operat
ing in Palestine for nearly two years, and had 
operated before the United Nations Relief for 
Palestine Refugees had been initiated. Early in 
1948 the Red Cross had sent a large group to 
Jerusalem to distribute relief of a chiefly medical 
character to war victims and war prisoners. That 
group, for which the Mandatory Power had made 
official buildings available, had itself sustained 
many casualties and had been able to note how 
swiftly incidents could assume serious and tragic 
proportions. 

9. He recalled that, in the spring of 1949, 
Jerusalem had been the scene of certain disturb
ances, some of the local population having insist
ently demanded rations which the International 
Red Cross agents were strictly reserving for 
refugees, in other words, for persons entering the 
area from outside. The International Comrnittt>e 
of the Red Cross had done everything in its power 
to act in accordance with the spirit of the General 
Assembly's resolutions 194 (III) and 212 (III) 
and to issue those United Nations rations to refu
gees only. It had, of course, been difficult, in spite 
of nine months of effort, to carry out a strict 
census of the refugees. Moreover, the Inter
national Red Cross had lacked the necessary funds 
to do so, as well as the large staff which it would 
have involved. For that reason, the interim report 
of the Economic Survey Mission for the Middle 
East merely spoke of an "estimate". That estimate 
had been particularly difficult to arrive at in an 
area where governmental sources of information 
were lacking. In addition, the International Com
mittee of the Red Cross, impressed by the misery 
of the refugees and acting, as always, in agree
ment with the League of Red Cross Societies, had 
appealed to international generosity, and had thus 
been able to make a substantial relief contribution 
to the funds provided by the United Nations. 
Such facts certainly justified a relaxation of the 
criteria governing distribution. 

10. To relieve the very real sufferings of the 
inhabitants of J erusalcm and to mitigate the re
sulting unrest, he had been obliged to initiate a 
programme of supplementary relief for needy per
sons who were not refugees. That programme, 
though modest, had made it possible and :Vas still 
making it possible to feed 15,000 refugees m J eru
salcm who had been unable to understand why they 
should be excluded from United Nations assist
ance; that supplementary relief had been financed 
partly from private dona~ions but ma_inly out of 
the funds of the International Comm1ttrr of the 
Red Cross itself. There were also many persons 
acutely in need in Hebron, Nablus and elsewhere; 
unfortunately, the slender resources of the Inter
national Red Cross had not been sufficient to 
provide assistance for them. It was therefore clear 
that an immediate reduction in the United Nations 
rations would be felt by the refugees themselves, 
and would make it even more difficult for the 
International Red Cross to do its work. 

11. In conclusion, Mr. Ruegger appealed to 
members of the Committee and of the General 
Assembly not to decide, on a rigid and mechanical 
basis, to reduce, as from 1 January 1950, the 
rations which the United Nations was putting at 
the disposal of the International Red Cross. 
Under the express terms of the agreements 
reached at Geneva and renewed on 16 June 1949, 
the mode of co-operation between the Inter
national Red Cross, the League of Red Cross 
Societies and the American Friends Service Com
!Dittec were to be reviewed in the very near future, 
m the course of conducting negotiations with the 
United Nations. The United Nations should not 
be bound by rigid instructions which would not 
allow the International Red Cross to undertake, as 
it would wish to do and as was particularly desir
able, to continue the distribution of relief among 
several categories of sufferers during the winter. 
He felt sure that members of the Committee 
would understand, for he had found the Secre
tary-General very understanding. 

12. The relief of Palestine refugees, which had 
been supported by so much good will, must be 
carried through to a successful conclusion; it 
should lay the foundations for the smooth transi
tion into the large-scale programme of resettle
ment which the United Nations would consider 
later. A vital humanitarian undertaking would 
thus have been successfully completed; for the 
refugees in the Middle East, the programme was 
of the highest importance and its operation would 
have made it possible to develop methods of relief 
which might be used to help those in distress 
throughout the world. 

13. Mr. Ruegger repeated that the bodies re
sponsible for the negotiations between the United 
Nations and the three relief organizations operat
ing in Palestine should not have their hands tied 
by rigid instructions which, from the outset, lim
ited the number of rations to be distributed. Such 
a limitation could only be justified by the speedy 
application, which was highly desirable, of the 
resettlement plan. Hence the General Assembly's 
directions should be fairJy flexible, particularly 
since the Assembly would be adjourning before 
the end of the year, at a time when the problem 
of relief for the Palestine refugees would be 
growing daily more acute and distressing. 

14. The CHAIRMAN thanked Mr. Ruegger for 
his statement. 
15. He then invited the Committee to resume 
consideration of the item before it, namely, the 
proposals for a permanent international regime 
for the J crusalem area, prepared by the Concilia
tion Commission (A/973). 
16. Mr. CHoUKAJRY (Syria) said that the pc
cul iar character of Jerusalem hardly needed elab
orating. It was the seat of several religions, and its 
religious buildings varied as greatly in their archi
tecture as in the nature of the ceremonies held 
within them. Jerusalem had seen the birth of the 
moral ideas of humanity, and had witnessed 
evrnts which were part of history. The soil itself 
was universally regarded as holy and, though 
barren, was rich in spiritual treasures and mem
ories of divine revelations. For centuries J erusa
lem had received pilgrims in their thousands and 
charity had from time immemorial been practised 
in its hospitals and schools. In its cemeteries rested 
the remains of saints, martyrs, believers, heroes 



44th meeting 258 25 November 1949 

and scholars. Thus, every corner of Jerusalem 
was a living museum, bearing witness to its holi
ness and greatness. 

17. But Jerusalem, a human _and therefore Jer
restial city had to be the patrimony of a nat10n. 
The Arab; were destined to be that nation. The 
city was an integral part of_ the _Ara~ \":or!?. Its 
history, geography and social hf e a!l md1cat~d 
clearly its Arab character. From time 1mmemonal 
Jerusalem had been part of Syria. It had been 
an Arab city since the seventh centu~y, after its 
deliverance from the yoke of Rome. Like Damas
cus, Cairo and Baghdad, it had shared i11 the 
making of Ara~ history, in its ~lory and de~li!l~· 
and in that renaissance upon which modern c1vil1-
zation rested. 

18. The Arabs had inherited from their ances
tors a sacred right and a duty regarding Jerusa
lem: to def end the Holy City and the Holy 
Places from aggression, to safeguard freedom of 
worship and of conscience for the pilgrims, and 
to secure free access to the Holy Places. That 
duty, which the Arabs had proudly fulfilled with
out discriminating against any community, 
whether Christian, Moslem or Jewish, had become 
a tradition in the Arab world which had been re
spected for centuries, and which had been main
tained long before there were any constitutions or 
international conventions. 

19. When the city of Jerusalem had surrendered 
to Caliph Omar in the seventh century, that ~reat 
ruler had granted freedom of worship to its in
habitants in a treaty unparalleled in history. With 
exemplary benevolence and tolerance, it had guar
anteed the Christians security of life, of property, 
and of freedom of worship ; it might be said to 
have turned the vanquished into victors. Though 
concluded long before international law existed, 
and centuries before the Universal Declaration of 
Human Rights came into being, the treaty had 
both preached and translated into fact the ideal 
of freedom of worship. In the report written i11 
1946 by the then Chief Justice of Palestine, Sir 
William Fitzgerald, it was said, with reference to 
the conquest of J entsalem, that no conqueror had 
ever displayed such noble and generous smtiments 
as those manifested to the inhabitants of Jcmsa
lem by Caliph Omar; one of the conditions of 
capitulation which had been faithfully observed 
was that the churches, lives and property of thl' 
Christians should be respected. In his report Sir 
William had added that the treatment accorded to 
the vanquished Christians woul<l foren:r assure 
the Arab race an houourc<l place iu th,• annals of 
Jerusalem. 

20. The attiluclc of the Arabs towards the Jews 
was clearly above suspicion. Co11vincing evidence 
of that fact could be found in the utteranCi.'s of 
the Jews themselves. In their memorandum sub
mitted in 1938 to the Palestine Partition Co111111i:-:
sion, the Jewish Agency had a<lmittl'd that the 
Arab conquest of J crusalem had resuhed in an 
improvement in ihe position of the Jewish com
munity in the city. The Jewish Agency had ft)r
ther detailed how, under the successors of S:iladm. 
synagogues ha<l been built and rabbinical courts 
established. ln the ninete<'nth century, when Pal
estine had been overrun by Mohammed Ali, the 
foundrr of the Egyptian dynasty, the Jewish com-

---;-Sec Official l?t:cords of llrr s,•,·a11d .~pccia/ .1e·ssfo11 of 
the Gr11rral Ass£',nbly, Rrsol1ttio,~r, No. 186 (S-2). 

'Wcs1111instcr l'ress, Philadelphia, 1941). 

munity-according to the statement of the Jewish 
Agency-had continued to develop and prosper. 
In 1841, when Jerusalem had been restored to the 
Ottoman Empire, the Chief Rabbi of Jerusalem 
had been granted the same powers and privileges 
as were exercised by the spiritual heads of other 
communities. Accordingly, under the Arab rule 
the Jewish community in Jerusalem had flour
ished; it had prospered and the Jews had freely 
practised their religion. Sheltered in the Arab 
world, persecuted elsewhere: such had been the 
position of the Jewish community. Yet the Arabs 
were reaping in destruction and murder the re
ward of their chivalry and benevolence. 

21. Under Arab rule the Jewish community had 
been secure from persecution, and the Holy Places 
had been protected. Since the advent of Zionism, 
however, and the attempt to establish Jewish sov
ereignty in Palestine, the Holy Places had been 
threatened with complete destruction. He quoted 
from the statements of the highest Christian au
thorities in Jerusalem, as given in a report dated 
31 May 1948, in which it was stated that, in spite 
of the cease-fire of 14 May 1948,1 the Jews had 
taken advantage of the eight-day truce to occupy 
all the strategic points in Jerusalem and to launch 
an attack against the Holy City, turning it into a 
battlefield and ,, scene of large-scale destruction. 
The report a<ldcd that complete peace had reigned 
in the Arab sector in pursuanct: of the order 
given by the i\ rah authorities to cease fire forth
with. The report mcntione<l several convents 
which had been occupied by the Jews, as well as 
the French and Italian hospitals, even though 
they had been placed under the protection of the 
Red Cross flag. Those buildings, the Hebrew 
University, the Jewish Hospital and two syna
g-ogues had be<'n u~cd by the Jews as military 
bases for firing on tltc Holy City. 

22. He proceeded to ,1uotc extracts from the 
book Palestine is our Business by Millar Burrows, 
professor of theology at Yale University/ which 
mentioned tl1e <leaths of numbers of priests and 
the desecration and destruction of sacred build
ings by mm and women of the Jewish forces. 

23. It was in the light of those events that one 
should regard the statement made to the General 
Assembly by ihc representative of Israel3 who 
had proposed that the internationalization of 
Jerusalem should be limited to the Holy Places. 
It was doubtful whether ]ll'f r. Eban's theories, 
when implemented, would succeed in safeguarding 
the Holy Places. Apparently, under the Zionists' 
peculiar code of war, Holy Places might be used 
as targets and hospitals, universities and syna
gogues as military bases. 

24. The detennination of Zionist circles to cap
ture the whole of Jerusalem in order to make it 
a Jewish capital was sufficient justification for the 
fears of millions of believers throughout the 
world as io the future of J crusalem and of the 
Holy Place:-. Mr. Eban had recently reaffirmed 
that inkJ1tiot1 in the General Assembly4 and had 
attacked tin- plan proposed by the Conciliation 
Commission on the grounds that it would replace 
the existing- administration of Jerusalem based on 
popular consent In· a new administration which 
wouhi nN h;we th~ same democratic basis. It was 

'Sec Offeci11/ Hrrords of the tlzird. !e.rsion of. the 
Gcncn1/ ,,Jsscmlil;•, Port ll, Ad Hoc Political Comm1ttre, 
451h mcctin~, 

• ]bid. 



25 November 1949 259 44th meeting 

very regrettable that Mr. Eban should have used 
the word "democratic" in that context, as the 
very fact that the Zionists were in control of part 
of Palestine and of Jerusalem constituted a nega
tion of democratic principles. 

25. Mr. Eban based his country's alleged claims 
to Jerusalem on the provisions of the armistice 
agreements concluded between Israel and the 
Arab States. He had stated that the situation in 
Jerusalem was perfectly legal since it correspond
ed to the terms of the armistice agreement signed 
by the parties and endorsed by the Security Cotm
cil. In fact, however, the agreement explicitly 
stated that the terms of the armistice had been 
dictated exclusively by military considerations and 
were entirely without prejudice to the rights of 
the parties in the ultimate settlement of the ques
tion. ·with regard to the Jerusalem area specific
ally, articles V and VI of the armistice agreement 
with the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan1 

clearly stated that the demarcation line had been 
agreed to by the parties for military reasons with
out prejudice to future territorial settlements or 
the rights and claims of either party relating 
thereto. That was sufficient proof of the weakness 
of the position adopted by Israel on the question. 

26. As Mr. Eban himself had recognized, Israel's 
presence in Jerusalem was an accomplished fact, 
the achievement of which had been accompanied 
by some of the most tragic acts of Zionist terror
ism in Palestine. He did not wish to give a long
list of the outrages perpetrated by the Zionists 
during the last days of the Mandate, but would 
merely mention the horrible crime which they had 
committed in the small village of Deir Yasin near 
J cmsalem: on 10 April 1948, while British troops 
were still in Palestine, the 250 inhabitants of the 
village, including women and children, had been 
massacred by the Zionists; the Red Cross repre
sentative who, two days later, had been given per
mission to visit the spot, had discovered 150 
mutilated bodies in one well. 

27. That was how the Zionists had been able to 
approach the city and prepare for what Mr. Eban 
called the "accomplished fact". The statement 
made by the head of the Stern organization and 
published in the newspaper Star News on 9 
August 1948, constituted sufficient evidence: 
"Everybody knows it was the Deir Yasin attack 
that struck terror into the hearts of the Arab 
masses and caused their stampede. That blessed 
miracle has strengthened us and dealt the ~nemy 
a far greater blow than all the combined wisdom 
of the Haganah commanders could have done." 

28. It was by such massacres that the Zionists 
had been able to force the evacuation of numerous 
Arab quarters outside Jerusalem and of un?e
fended villages in the neighbourhood of the city. 
Those were the facts which enabled Mr. Eban to 
stand up in the GC'neral Ass(•mbly and sav that 
"Jewish Jerusalem" was an "accomplished fact". 

29. Nor had Mr. Eban usC'd the expression 
"Jewish J erusa~em" by chance; it had been. us~d 
011 many occasions by spokesmen of the Z1omst 
movement. A yirtual campaign to mislead world 
public opinion as to the true nature of Jerusalem 
and to convince the world that Jerusalem was a 
Jewish city, was in progress. That claim was com
pletely controverted by the figures collected by 

'Sec Official R!!ro,-ds nf ilir Srruril),' Co1111cil, Fourth 
Y car, Special Supplement No. l. 

Sub-Committee 2 of the Ad Hoc Committee on 
the Palestinian Question and published in para
graph 66 of the Committee's report dated 11 No
vember 1947 :2 it showed that in the Jerusalem 
sub-district the Arabs represented 62 per cent of 
the population and the Jews 38 per cent, and that 
in the same area the Arabs owned 84 per cent of 
the land and the Jews only 2 per cent. Conse
quently, therefore, Jerusalem was still, as in the 
past, an overwhelmingly Arab city with a Jewish 
minority. 

30. That was precisely the conclusion that had 
been reached by the United Nations Mediator, 
who in a letter to Mr. Shertok dated 6 July 1948, 
had written that Jerusalem stood in the heart of 
what must be Arab territory in any partition 
of Palestine. Possibly that opinion of Count Ber
nadotte was not unconnected with his tragic death 
in the very heart of Jerusalem; only recently, a 
member of the Israel Parliament, a former Irgun 
leader, had stated in a broadcast that the new 
United Nations Commissioner for Jerusalem, Mr. 
Gonzalez Fernandez, might suffer the same fate 
as the United Nations Mediator if he tried to 
carry out the internationalization of the City of 
Jerusalem. 

31. However that might be, the immediate issue 
was a decision on the status of the Jerusalem 
area, and the attitude of the Arab world had to be 
made known. Of course, if national aspirations, 
democratic principles and the principle of self
determination were taken into account, it must be 
hoped that Jerusalem would continue its tradi
tional life as an Arab city. On the other hand, if 
the appeal of millions of believers throughout the 
world who fervently desired the internationaliza
tion of Jerusalem as a corpus separatum were con
sidered, one was tempted to accede to that appeal 
behind which could be discerned the noble desire 
to save the Holy City from total destruction. Un
like Israel, which had objected to the creation of 
an international regime in Jerusalem, the Arab 
States would, therefore, agree to examine impar
tially and with an open mind the pros and cons 
of the plan submitted by the Conciliation Com
mission. The striking difference between the atti
i ude of Israel and that of the Arab States was 
very revealing. 

32. The Syrian delegation did not intend to 
examine in detail at that stage the draft statute 
drawn up by the Conciliation Commission; gen
erally speaking, and though disagreeing on certain 
matters, it felt that, as a whole, the endeavours 
of the Commission merited appreciation. 

33. It was in that spirit that the Syrian delega
tion wished to submit for the consideration of 
the Ad Hoc Political Committee five basic prem
ises, which, in its view, should guide the establish
ment of an international regime in Jerusalem, 
always assuming, of course, that the idea of 
intf:'rnationalization was accepted. 

3,1 The five premises were as follows: 

( 1) To ensure stability, the international 
regime should be established in Jerusalem only 
followinrr the enforcement of the territorial clauses 
of Gen(ral Assembly resolution 181 (II) of 29 
November 1947. To isolate Jerusalem from the 
problem of Palestine as a _whole would J?-Ot be 
practical, and would make 1t even more difficult 

'See document A/AC.14/32. 



44th meeting 260 25 November 1949 

to achieve the purposes contemplated by the Gen
eral Assembly resolution. 

(2) To secure effective control in Jerusalem 
the wh?~e o~ the ~oil City m1;1st first be complete~ 
ly dem1htanzed w1thm a specified minimum time
limi!. The \Jni~ed Nations should adopt a demo
cratic constitution for Jerusalem containing ade
quate provisions with regard to the Holy Places, 
to the fundamental freedoms, and to human 
rights. 

(3) The re-establishment of normal conditions 
should be considered as a necessary prerequisite 
for the internationalization of Jerusalem, and all 
those refugees who were habitual residents in the 
Jerusalem area should be repatriated without de
lay; their property and land should be returned 
to them and any legislative or other impediments 
thereto should be declared null and void. 

( 4) To maintain the security and unity of the 
Jerusalem area, the United Nations should estab
lish at its head a single central administration· 
municipal services should be entrusted to munici~ 
pal authorities who would be Arab in the Arab 
city and _the. Arab quarters outside the city walls, 
and J ew1sh m the Jewish quarters. In towns and 
villages within the Jerusalem area but outside the 
city, local councils should be established which 
-.yould be Arab when the majority of the popula
tion was Arab and Jewish when the majority was 
Jewish. 

( 5) The International Court of Justice should 
be empowered to restrain or rescind any action 
legislative, administrative or otherwise, by whom~ 
soever made, which in the judgment of the Court 
was an abuse of power under the Constitution or 
was calculated by its nature to frustrate or defeat 
the objectives of the international regime. 

35. Those basic premises were surely not in
spired by any national or racial considerations. 
Furthermore, they were in complete conformity 
with the resolutions adopted by the United 
Nations. 

36. In conclusion, the Syrian delegation wished 
to recall the terrible sacrifices sustained by the 
Arab soldiers in the defence of Jerusalem against 
the attacks of overwhelming enemy forces. It was 
thanks to the heroism of the Arab soldiers that 
Jerusalem had been saved from total destruction, 
and was in a position to be internationalized. 

37. Sir Alexander CADOGAN (United Kingdom) 
stated that his Government whole-heartedly 
supported the principle that a permanent 
international regime should be established for 
Jerusalem. 
38. Recalling that the General Assembly had 
given the Conciliation Commission the task of 
drafting proposals for a permanent international 
regime for the Jerusalem area, he said his delega
tion, like those of the United States, France arnt 
Turkey, regarded the document prepared as an 
admirable reconciliation between the apparentlv 
conflicting claims of the international comnumii)' 
and the inhabitants of Jerusalem who felt allegi
ance to Israel or to Jordan. That was why the 
United Kingdom delegation supported the draft 
statute, while admitting that it might have to be 
amended slightly in order to make it more accept
able to the parties concerned. In that spirit, the 
United Kingdom would gladly welcome changes 
that might be proposed, provide<l that they cli<l not 

upset the balance which the Conciliation Commis
sion had sought to preserve between the inter
n~tional interest and. national loyalty, and pro
vided they took sufficiently into account the spe
cial place occupied by the Holy City in the hearts 
of Christians, Jews and Moslems everywhere. 
There was no doubt that if the question was con
sidered in a spirit of conciliation and mutual 
understanding, it would appear that the Concilia
tion Commission's proposals provided a workable 
arrangement which would safeguard the rights of 
all concerned. 

39. The United Kingdom delegation had listened 
with interest and sympathy to the arguments ad
vanced by the Australian representative, who pro
posed return to the plan for the internationaliza
tion of Jerusalem recommended by the General 
Assembly in its resolution 181 (II) of 29 No
vember 1947. That plan had, perhaps, been verv 
well adapted to the situation as it existed at the 

. time; but it must be remembered that it had re
mained unimplemented along with the whole plan 
for partition with economic union of which it was 
part. In those circumstances, it was permissible to 
ask whether the plan was adequate to the needs of 
the present situation. The United Kingdom dele
gation doubted if it was. 

40. The United Kingdom delegation's doubts in 
that matter were further strengthened by the 
opinion of the Conciliation Commission which 
had deemed it appropriate to make new pr~posals. 
Th~ Conciliation Commission had had the oppor
tunity to study the Palestine question intensively 
over a long period, and it was in a better position 
than any single delegation to speak authoritatively 
about the situation in Jerusalem. It would, he 
felt, be presumptuous for the members of the Ad 
Hoc Political Committee to question the wisdom 
and value of the Conciliation Commission's find
ings as embodied in the draft statute it had sub
mitted to the General Assembly. The United 
Kingdom delegation, for its part, adhered to the 
opinion of the Conci_liation Commission, and 
hoped the other delegat10ns would do the same. 

41. The United Kingdom delegation was there
fore unable to support part A of the operative 
part of the Australian draft resolution (A/ AC.31/ 
L.37) and still less the amendments thereto sub
mitted by EI Salvador (A/ AC.31/L.40) and the 
USSR (A/AC.31/L.41 ), since those various pro
posals advocated a return by the Conciliation 
Commission to General Assembly resolution 181 
(II) of 29 November 1947. Such a step back
wards struck him as unwise at a time when the 
Conciliation Commission was proposing to the 
General Assembly a solution which satisfied the 
needs of the present and the future. 

42. Part B of the operative part of the Aus
tralian draft rrsolution dealing with the Concilia
tion Commission was largely ancillary to part A, 
and woulcl be unnecessarv if the latter were not 
arlopted. Whatever action, however, might be 
taken on part A of the draft resolution, the 
United Kingdom delegation could not support the 
proposal to increase the number of members of 
the Conciliation Commission to seven. The Con
ciliation Commission as constituted had done a 
good joh umfrr very difficult conditions. It had 
acquired an accurate knowledge of the question 
and estahlished contacts with local personalities 
concernecl. The whole outcome of its task de-



25 November 1949 261 44th meeting 

pended on its ability to continue its efforts with
out being troubled by a change in its membership. 
If it were enlarged, it would certainly lose some 
of its efficiency as a conciliation body. There 
would therefore be no advantage to offset the 
extra expense to the United Nations which the 
enlargement of the Conciliation Commission 
would entail. The contrary was in fact the case. 

43. To sum up, the United Kingdom delegation 
gave its general support to the Conciliation Com
mission's draft statute, but was prepared to con
sider any changes that might be suggested in a 
spirit of compromise and mutual respect. It com
mended the Conciliation Commission for its 
appreciation of all the conflicting interests in 
Jerusalem and hoped it might be allowed to bring 
its conciliatory work in the rest of Palestine to a 
successful conclusion during the coming year. 

44. Mr. SnARETT (Israel) said that for the time 
being he would confine his remarks to a general 
statement and reserved his delegation's right sub
sequently to deal in detail with the draft resolu
tions, and particularly with that of Australia and 
with the charges that had just been levelled against 
Israel by the Syrian delegation, 

45. He noted that the subject of Jerusalem con
tinued to be a matter of deep feeling and contro
versy, for which it was time to arrive at a fair 
and lasting settlement. Such a settlement would 
not be diffiL"Ult to attain if the different claims 
were realistically appraised and a sincere effort 
was made to harmonize them. It was in such a 
spirit of co-operation and realism that his delega
tion approached the problem of the future of 
Jcrnsalem. , 
46. The Holy City was an object of interest to 
the entire civilized world; but he considered that 
such universal veneration should not overshadow 
the special interests of the Jewish people, which 
regarded J crusalem as the symbol of past glory, 
the lodestar of its wanderings, the subject of its 
daily prayers and the goal of its hopes for even
tual redemption. That contrast between national 
and international psychology in regard to J erusa
lem was undeniable. 

47. It was that singular attachment to Jerusalem 
which, even under Ottoman rule, had led the Jews 
to form the majority of the city's inhabitants, and 
had subsequently induced thrm to re-create in it 
their spiritual, cultural and political centre in 
Pakstin('. 

48. That pos1t10n of Jemsalem in the life of 
Jewish Palestine and the Jewish people through
out the world was fully accepted by enlightened 
world public opinion. He recalled that when the 
United Kingdom was first contemplating- in 1937 
the establishment of a Jewi~h State in Palestine, 
the Primate of the Church of England, the late 
Archbishop of Canterbury, had insisted that J eru
salem must be an integral part of it; and in the 
1944 edition of the Westminster Dictionary of the 
Bible, published in the United States by Christian 
theologic.11 authorities, Jerusalem was described as 
"the sacred city and well-known capital of Judah, 
of Judea, of Palestine and of the Jews throug-h
out the world". 

49. An immense sacrifice was therefore entailed 
in the renunciation by the Jewish representatives 
before the General Assembly of 1947, of their 
claim for the inclusion of Jewish Jerusalem in the 

Jewish State. He doubted whether there' ho.cl ever 
been a similar voluntary concession of a supreme 
national interest in deference to a consensus of 
international opinion. Yet, that act of self-denial 
had proved fruitless, and, had it been maintained, 
it would indeed have proved disastrous, because 
the international community had failed to exercise 
the authority which it had claimed and received. 

50. Faced with a brutal onslaught of bloody vio
lence by Arab forces upon the Jews of J erusalcm, 
the United Nations had ehosen·to retreat from its 
solemn responsibility. He was not attempting to 
apportion blame, but merely stating a fact, a fact 
pregnant with far-reaching consequences. At the 
cru_eial and decisive stage, when the authority 
which had ruled Jerusalem for thirty years had 
ceased to exist, the resulting vacuum had not been 
filled by the United Nations. The abdication of 
the Organization had been complete. 

5 I. The statute of Jerusalem worked out by the 
Trusteeship Council with the full co-operation of 
the Jewish representatives had been shelved. Re
peated attempts to regalvanize it into life had been 
staunchly resisted by the Trusteeship Council and 
the General Assembly. The last of those attempts 
had been made in the meeting of the Trusteeship 
Council on 29 July 1948.1 On that occasion, the 
author of the proposal had been the only one to 
vote for it. Eight members had voted against it 
and three had abstained. 

52. It might well be that tl1e United Nations had 
originally accepted the responsibility for the ad
ministration of Jerusalem without due deliberation 
and foresight. Faced with an emergency, it had 
discovered that it had no means to cope with it, 
and had been obliged to adopt an attitude of pure 
passivity. If that was the ease, it was idle to urge, 
at that stage, a return tn a constitutional status 
qiio ante as if nothing had happened meanwhile. 

53. By their victorious struggle, the Jews had 
regained not merely their stake in Jerusalem, but 
the link between it and the State of Israel. That 
bond had been cemented by the blood shed br the 
1,490 Jewish men, women and children who had 
fallen, as civilians or as soldiers of Israel's Army, 
in Jerusalem alone. The sufferings and resistance 
of those heroes had onlv rein forced their will and 
conviction that the Stat~ of Tsrael and the City of 
Jerusalem should constitute an inseparable whole. 
The dictates of self-preservation had prevailed 
against the original willingness to accept an inter
national verdict. Just as that verdict had proved 
inoperative because those whose duty it was to up
hold it had failed in their obligations, so the ac
ceptance of it by the Jews through a renuneiMion 
of their basic claim had been nullified bv the 
course of events. · 

54. Even after the mortal peril had been averted, 
the need to man the defences had remained. The 
task had been naturally entrusted to Israel's anny 
of defence. The lines of communication estab
lished, in the heat of battle, between the City of 
Jerusalem and the State of Israel, such as the new 
road and the a<Jueduet. had been taken over by 
the rnmpctcnt ministry of Tsrael; and the same 
was true of the supply and rationing system, and 
the financinl and police scrvicC's. The laws of 
Israel had been extended to Jerusalem, since it 
would have been ludicrous to attempt to· set up a 

'Sec Offirial Reco,-ds of the Truslnship Co1111ci1, 
third $C,8ion, 35th meeting. 



44th meeting 262 25 November 1949 

separate legislative system for Jerusalem. Thus, in 
every administrative respect, the city had been 
integrated in the State, and the links between Jew
ish Jerusalem and the rest of Jewish Palestine 
which had been broken by the enemy attack, had 
been restored and strengthened. Jerusalem, how
ever, had never been and would never be an ordi
nary city: its central position and unique dignity 
could not be ignored. For both economic and 
moral reasons, the transfer to it of central institu
tions such as had always been housed there, was 
indispensable. 

55. The Australian representative, who had de
picted that course of developments as a deliberate 
plan to flout the decision of the United Nations, 
might well be invited to visualize his own Govern
ment facing the same ordeals, enduring the same 
sacrifices, burdened with the same responsibilities 
and acting as the sole custodian of the same his
torical values. He doubted whether the Australian 
representative would be able to sav that his Gov
ernment would have acted differently. 

56. The Government of Israel could not admit 
that the rescue of Jerusalem, or any action necessi
tated by it, could be the subject of the slightest 
justifiable reproach. 

57. The Australian representative had quite 
rightly referred to the notable part played by his 
Government and ddegation in helping Israel to 
achieve its present position. ~fr. Sharett took the 
opportunity of paying tribute to the personal con
tribution of th..: Australian Minister of Foreign 
Affairs and the Australian rcprest·ntativc hi1melf 
to the recognition of Israel and its admission to 
the United Nations. It was not simply a question 
of friendship or sympathy, and that of Australia 
for Israel was certainly not a passing phase, but 
of the recognition of elementary needs and proc
esses of life. 

58. The Australian representative's assumption 
that at the first part of the third session of the 
General Assembly the delegation of Israel had de
clared its agreement to a reversion to the lerms of 
the resolution of 29 Noyember 1947 in respt>ct of 
the s.tatus of Jerusalem or ihe boundaries. of 
Israel, must be based on a mi:'-undcrsta11ding on 
1he part of either th(' Australian or the Israeli 
delegation. He insisted that, so far as that resolu
ti0t1 was concenwd, the conscirnc\' of Israel was 
clear. I srad was not responsible for its non
application. Israel alone, of all the parties con
cerned. had been prepared to impkml'nt !hat reso
lution at the time. with all the restrictions it 
e11tailed for the country's foturr. Otht-r partie::: 
had attempted lo destroy the rec:olution or had 
a<toptrd a passive attitude. If. :1s a n·;;ult of that 
attitude. events had takm a diffc·rcnt course. that 
wac: no lon~er a situation which coul1l he changed. 

59. Israel would always be conscious of the debt 
it O\n:<l to llw United Nations for the n-co~11itio11 
of its right to live as an indepc11de11l nation in its 
own cmmtrv. which was lo Israel the rnai11 and 
clenwl ('kn;c11t of the re:-olution of 29 N'on·mh1T 

I <).f7. Nor would I sracl forge! how, despite that 
n:~olution, it was very nearly cn1shecl out of cxi:-;t
l'llCl' ;-;ml how. fortified onlv morallv h\' llw 1-e:-:o

lu:ion. il had fought alon(' io san· iis ft11t1n-, 

60. The i11evitahk conclusion from rercnt ex
peril'nrc and the existing situation was that no 
international reginw, howt•vcr wisely constituted, 
am\ l'\'en with all thr lll'C<'Ssary fun(!s and arnn·1I 

forces at its disposal, would ever have been able 
to meet the needs and provide for the growth and 
development of Jewish Jerusalem as adequately as 
the Government of Israel, with all its limitations 
and shortcomings, was doing. And even if it suc
ceeded on the purely material and administrative 
side, it would perforce have failed in what should 
be the central objective of all good government: 
the guarantee of a free and independent life. 

61. The setting up of an international regime 
over Jerusalem that did not derive its authority 
from the freely expressed will of its inhabitants 
would deny those inhabitants the elementary right 
enjoyed by their compatriots elsewhere as citizens 
of independent States. It might be asked: did the 
religious associations of Jerusalem justify such a 
denial? Could not the Holy Places and religious 
associations be protected other.vise than by limit
ing the Jewish inhabitants of Jerusalem in the 
exercise of their civic and political self-determina
tion? Was it indeed in the long-term interest of 
churches and religious institutions that they should 
be charged with responsibility for permanently 
interfering with the normal course of secular life 
and the full self-direction of the population? Was 
there no way of satisfying the deep religious senti
ment centred around Jerusalem throughout the 
Christian and the Moslem worlds without en
croachini:; upon the normal sovereignty of Israel? 

62. His Government's answer to all these ques
tions was in the negative. It accepted the sanctity 
of the religious associations with which Jerusalem 
was hallowed, and it was ready to guarantee that, 
as far as the area under its control was concerned, 
they would be fully respected. It was one of the 
fundamental principles enshrined in the Declara
tion of Independence of Israel that freedom of 
worship and the ohserva.nce of religious customs 
and rites were to be fully safeguarded; included 
in the freedom of worship was freedom of pil
g-rimagc and safety of access to all Holy Places 
and shrines. The Government of Israel was ready 
to undertake special responsibility for the safety 
and inviolability of Holy Places in the Jerusalem 
area, and accepted the supervisory authority of 
the United Nations in regard to the Holy Places. 
But it denied that, for all these purposes, it was 
necessary to curtail the independence of the people 
of Israel and to introduce an outside authority 
into the regulation of its internal life. Moreover, 
his Government did not see how, in practice, ::.ud1 
curtailment could be effected in the case of the 
.T<-ws of Jernsalcm, who enjoyed the same politi
cal and civic rights as their fellow citizens of 
Israel or, for that matter, as the citizens of any 
free and democratic country. Since the limitations 
originally contemplated had not materialized, it 
was physieally impossible to impose them at the 
present stage. 

63. Tlw draft instrument preparrd by thr Con
cilialion Commission for Palestine was 11naccept
able to Israel because its basis was the estahlish
nw11t of a11 outsi<le authority over a whole area, 
which amounted to the subjection of the Jews of 
krusakm to t111dc111ocratic rule and the cttrtail
;m'nt of the independence of lsral'I. From that 
funclame11t,1l principle wen· derivcd a number of 
fratun•s which were as unjust as they wne im
practicable. The existence of an authority rivalling 
;iml. in fact, superior to that of the State would 
scnc as a perpetual source of confusion am\ fric-



25 November 1949 263 44th meeting 

tion. No stable regime could be erected on that 
basis. 

64. For that reason, his delegation was forced to 
conclude that the somewhat modified version of 
the draft instrument outlined in the statement of 
the United States representative did not meet the 
point at issue. His delegation noted that the United 
States representative had dissociated himself from 
the proposition, contained in the draft instrument, 
that the United Nations Commission be empow
ered to limit or prohibit the settlement of Jews in 
Jerusalem; but his delegation felt uneasy over 
the fact that, according to the United· States rep
resentative, the Commissioner should retain 
supervisory control in times of emergency. 

65. His delegation also noted the belief ex
pressed by the United States representative that 
the laws of Israel would continue to apply as they 
do at present to Jewish Jerusalem and that the 
decision as to what political regime should pre
vail would be left to the inhabitants and to the 
authorities concerned with administration. 

66. But those mitigations, though important, did 
not affect the core of the matter. The basic princi
ple was retained of a permanent international 
regime which extended over a territory and exer
cised direct authority overriding that of the State 
or conflicting with it. The exigencies of religious 
symbolism were given gratuitous predominance 
over the needs of life. It was true that, within the 
framework of the international regime, a maxi
mum extent of local autonomy was repeatedly 
urged, but that could not be accepted as a consola
tion. The term "local autonomy" was more dis
quieting than reassuring. It was an obvious 
euphemism for lack of independence. 

67. Thus, the conception of the United States 
representative retained the establishment of a 
General Council, with vaguely defined powers 
but with inevitable possibilities of interference 
with the normal conduct of government. That such 
a council should develop a corporate feeling was 
illusory. The inevitable split between the two na
tional entities would enthrone the chairman, the 
United States Commissioner, as a supreme ar
biter, to the complete denial of self-government. 
A complicated system of United Nations courts 
with jurisdiction conflicting with that of the State 
courts was another negative feature of the 
scheme. 

68. As to the question of the immediate demili
tarization of Jerusalem, to which the United 
States representative had attached so much im
portance, Mr. Sharett thought that no illusion 
could be more dangerous. The proposal reflected 
a genuine concern for the peace and safety of 
Jerusalem, but whether its practical implications 
had been fully realized seemed doubtful. 

69. The security of J erusalcm was governed by 
the armistice agreement between Israel and the 
Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan, the terms of 
which, particularly in Jerusalem, had been scrupu
lously observed, as far as the avoidance of hostili
ties was concerned. Complete peace and quiet had 
reigned throughout the city for many months. The 
armistice harl enabled and entailed a partial reduc
tion of armed forces on both sides; if formal 
peace followed in its wake, a further reduction 
would undoubtedly take place. But to urge an 
abrupt and complete disarmament was not merely 

asking for the impossible; it would be defeating 
one's own avowed purpose. 

70. Jewish Jerusalem was surrounded on three 
sides, north, east and south, by Arab territory. A 
complete bilateral disarmament of Jewish and 
Arab areas in Jerusalem would not establish a 
secure equilibrium. It would leave the Jewish area 
in a position of very marked inferiority, extreme
ly vulnerable to sudden attack which it would be 
unable immediately to ward off. The Jews were 
not prepared to run that risk; only a prolonged 
period of undisturbed quiet could effect a change 
in their attitude. In view of past events, if demili
tarization were imposed and enforced, the effect 
would be to call forth reactions hardly conducive 
to peace and order. The armistice agreement was 
a binding international instrument and its pro
visions could be modified only by the mutual con
sent of the parties in accordance with the terms 
of the agreement. 

71. His Government thus rejected the draft in
strument even in its mitigated form. It noted that 
the United States delegation was ready to examine 
any new proposals which would facilitate the task 
of reaching a general agreement. No settlement 
could be effective and lasting which did not leave 
the established authority in full possession and un
disturbed exercise of all normal functions of gov
ernment. The problem would not be solved by sub
ordinating ordinary life to religious interests; nor 
did the religious interests require such subordina
tion. Jerusalem was not merely a collection of 
Holy Places, religious buildings and sites. It was, 
notably in its new part, a town of industry and 
commerce, of education and culture, of literary 
and artistic activity. Its citizens had declared time 
and again through their elected representatives 
that they recognized as their Government only the 
Government of Israel. It was difficult to see how 
their obedience to another authority could be re
quired. The fact that Jerusalem contained shrines 
of other religions and was held sacred by millio11s 
in countries near and far, did impose obligations 
on its inhabitants and responsibility on their Gov
ernment. The need, from the international view
point, to protect the Holy Places and to ensure 
the religious interests of all communities in the 
Holy City should by no means be sacrificed for 
the sake of the people of Jerusalem; but neither 
should the rights and interests of the people be 
jeopardized because of the city's religious associa
tions. There was no need for sacrifice on either 
side when mutual harmony could be attained. 

72. His delegation had previously had opportuni
ties to indicate the nature of the solution of the 
problem which it considered both practicable and 
fair. It accepted the principle of international 
concern as regards the Holy Places, which was ex
pressed through the instrumentality of the United 
Nations. It accepted the idea of an international 
regime to correspond to that concern but, in its 
conception, that international regime should be of 
functional, not territorial, character; it should, in 
fact, be concerned with the supervision of the 
Holy Places and the enforcement, through the ap
propriate authorities, of measures necessary for 
their protection and accessibility. It pointed to 
the possibility of supplementing the exercise of 
such functional authority by the United Nations 
throughout the area of Jerusalem with the com
plete internationalization of the Old City, which 
repre~ented a massive concentration of all the 



1 45th meeting - 264 25 November 1949 

?1ain shrines. As to the function of supervision 
1!1. the area controlled by Israel, his delegation be
lieved that the best way to ensure its effective dis
charge was thr<?ugh an agree1;1ent solemnly to be 
concluded, by vtrtue of a special resolution of the 
General Assembly, between the United Nations 
and the Government of Israel, providing for the 
obligations of that Government and for the pre
rogatives of the United Nations in that regard. 

73. The conclusion of the agreement would 
represent no derogation from the authority of the 
General Assembly, which remained supreme. Mr. 
Share~t was happy to be able to assure the repre
sentative of France that the apprehensions he had 
expressed on that score were unfounded. The idea 
of an ~gre~ment was based on the assumption that 
an obltgat10n was morally more binding if con
~racted by virtu~ of an agr~ement freely entered 
mto, r~ther t~an 1f forr~1ally imposed by a superior 
authonty. His delegat10n was convinced that a 
more effective responsibility would thus be 
shouldered by the Government of Israel and that 
th~ ~ong-term ~nt~rests of the Holy Places and 
rehg10us associations would thereby be better 
served. 

74. To avoid any misunderstanding, 1V[r. Sharett 
recalled that the concept of a functional inter
national regime was clearly set forth before the 
Ad Hoc Political Committee on S May 19491 by 
the representative of Israd, prior to Israel's ad
mission to membership in the United Nations; 
Mr. Sharett quoter! an extract from the statement 
made then by Mr. Eban. 

75. The importance of the distinction between 
the Old City and the New City could not be over
e~phasized; the Old City, which contained the 
chief sanctuaries of the three faiths all the Chris
tian patriarchates, a number of m~nasteries the 
Moslem e~clesiastical fo~mdations and a J e~ish 
quarter, with all the ancient synagogues, covered 
only 6.5 per cent of the municipal territory of 
Jerusalem and only 2 per cent of its town plan-

ning area; it was for the most part a maze of 
narrow, winding, vaulted alleys flanked by old 
and insanitary buildings. 

!6, The Walled City was in Arab hands. Its Jew-
1sh synagogues, which had been damaged during 
the fighting, had been practically razed to the 
ground since the fighting had ended. The Arab 
authorities had refused the Jews access to the 
Wailing \Vall, which was the remnant of the 
Temple. 

7i. Outside the walls, the Arabs held 38 per cent 
of Jerusale?1's town planning area, as delimited 
by the British Mandatory Administration to pro
vide scope for the city's growth and development. 
If ~he Arab inhabitants of the Walled City could 
~e mduced, by the offer of better housing facili
ties, to move of their own free will out of the 
con~ested quarters and settle in the free space 
outside the walls, then the Walled City could be 
convert_c~ into a site containing only Holy Places 
and re_hg10us f?un_dations, consecrated to religious 
worship and p1lgnmage by members of all faiths, 
under the aegis of the United Nations. Such a 
transformation would be a worthy object of 
United Nations initiative and care. 

78._ Pending any such far-reaching reform, the 
umqt)C cl)aracter of the Walled City should be 
kept m mmd as a subject calling for special treat
mcn!, In any case, the Jewish claim with regard 
to access to the \Vailing Wall and the restoration 
of the synagogues would have to be reserved. 

79. The Government of Israel made no condi
tion tha_t a settlem~nt of the status of the Holy 
Plac;es 111 the J cw1sh part of J erusalcm' should 
await a parallel settlement concernino- those in 
Ara~ hands. For its own part, and as°far as the 
J ew1sh part of J erusalcm was concerned his dele
gation was submitting to the Committe~ a draft 
resolution (A/ AC.31/L.42) referring to a draft 
agreement which would shortly be circulated. 

The meeting rose at 1.1 S p.m. 

FORTY-FIF*l'H MEETING 
Held at Lake Success, New York,on Friday, 25 November 1949, at 3 p.m. 

Chairman: Mr. Nasrollah ENTEZAM (Iran). 

Palestine (continued) 

PROPOSALS FOR A PERMANENT INTERNATIONAL 
REGIME FOR THE JERUSALE~1 AREA AND FOR 
PROTECTION OF THE HOLY PLACES : REPORT OF 
THE UNITED NATIONS CONCILIATION COMMIS
SION FOR PALESTINE (A/973 AND A/973 ADD. 
1 ) (continued) 

1. Mr. CASTRO (El Salvador) noted that the 
various progn:ss reports submitted by the Con
ciliation Commission (A/819, A/838, A/927 and 
A/992) taken together represented a complete re
port on the general problem of Palestine. Thcv 
dealt specifically with the three outstanding issues': 
an international regime for Jerusalem, protC'ction 
of the Holy Places and assistance to refugees, of 
whom the great majority were Arabs. In con-

' Sc-c O ffecial Records of the: third S!'Ssion of thr 
General .-lssrinlily, Part II, Ad Hoc Political Committee, 

· 45th meeting. 

nexion with the third issue, the delegation of El 
Salvador was prepared to vote in favour of all 
proposals for the effective implementation of the 
General Assem~ly's resolutions 194 (III) and 212 
(III) to alleviate the deplorable conditions of 
those refugees and to pem1it their return to the 
areas in Palestine from which they had fled as a 
result of the war. 
2. There had been a great deal of confusion con
cerning the establishment of an international 
regime for Jerusalem. The Assembly's resolutions 
on the subject had reflected that confusion bv 
omissions and defects which had given rise t~ 
<'rroneous and unjustified interpretations. Yet 
both resolution 181 (II) of 29 November 1947 
and resolution 194 (III) of 11 Decemher 1948 
were quite clear. 
3. In the first resolution, the Assembly had ex
plicitly decreed that the City of Jerusalem should 
come under a special international regime to be 
administered by the Trusteeship Council on bchal f 




